FILED

Nov 28, 2016

Court of Appeals

Division III

State of Washington

Supreme Court No. 13905.5

COA No. 329348

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEC 09 20164

ESTATE OF JOAN R. EIKUM

By and through its Personal Representative, JOHN J. EIKUM, and JOAN R. EIKUM, by and through her Personal Representative,

Petitioner,

v.

SAMUEL JOSEPH, D.O.,

Respondent.

## PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

MARY SCHULTZ Mary Schultz Law, P.S. 2111 E. Red Barn Lane Spangle, WA 99031 (509) 245-3522

Attorney for Petitioner

# **

# IV. SUMMARY OF PETITION FOR REVIEW.

Division III's *Eikum* ruling conflicts with this Supreme Court's precedent, and remove constitutional trial protections in a medical negligence claim brought under RCW 7.70, et seq. First, this Supreme Court's rulings in *Backlund* and *Sauerwein* create an affirmative defense that a physician may assert against an RCW 7.70.050 informed consent claim. Where genuine issues of material fact arise as to the credibility of a physician's testimony that he "excluded" a medical condition, the constitutional right to a jury trial requires that the jury make the fact findings necessary to sustain the physician's *Backlund* defense. In contravention of this fact finding, Division III's *Eikum* ruling applies *Backlund* to allow the physician a directed verdict of dismissal based purely on the physician's self-serving testimony. *Eikum* conflicts with *Backlund* and *Sauerwein*, and

Division II's ruling in *Flyte v. Summit*, and it results in constitutional error. Where the facts of an affirmative defense are in dispute, that defense must be submitted to a jury.

Second, Eikum also conflicts with this Supreme Court's rulings in Backlund, Sauerwein and Gates, and with Division II's Flyte v Summit, by failing to distinguish a Backlund/Sauerwein defense from an actionable Gates v. Jensen informed consent claim. The Backlund defense protects the physician from double liability when the physician actually excludes the medical condition at issue, while a permissible Gates claim exists where the evidence shows that the defendant physician had continuing of symptoms consistent with, and of verified test results pointing to, a high risk medical condition, but where the physician did nothing to form a diagnosis as to that or any condition, nor to exclude that or any condition. Eikum is in conflict with this Supreme Court and Division II because it fails to properly distinguish between the Backlund/Sauerwein defense and the viable Gates claim.

Finally, ER 803(a)(18) allows an exception to hearsay for a medical expert. But Division III applies the language of the Rule to abrogate a medical claimant's constitutional right to confront defense expert medical witnesses. This is error of a constitutional magnitude, and prejudice is presumed.

## V. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE.</u>

John Eikum is the widower of Joan Eikum—his wife of nearly 55 years at the time of her death. John filed a wrongful death action based on claimed medical negligence by pulmonary physician Dr. Samuel Joseph. *CP 3*. Dr. Joseph failed to <u>treat</u> Joan's signs and symptom of heart disease present within the standard of care by diagnosing her symptoms and verified test results to the proper medical conclusion. *CP 10*. Joseph failed to <u>tell</u> Joan about his suspicion of, and test results showing, her heart dysfunction, all within the context of her pre-surgical examination. *CP 12*. Joseph "cleared" Joan for a high-risk surgery following a fifteen minute examination in his office, where she remained fully clothed, seated in a chair. *RP 1972: 20-24; 1976:2-4*. He told her only: "You're ready for surgery. We'll see you back in six months. Continue your medications. Good-bye." *RP 1984: 15-20*. Joan made the decision to go forward with knee surgery because "the doctor indicated that she was okay; ready for surgery." *RP 926: 1-7*.

Joan Eikum died from cardiac arrest within hours of her knee surgery. Following her cardiac arrest, her extensive heart dysfunction was quickly revealed by a bedside echocardiogram (ECHO) test. *RP* 778:6-13. Treating cardiologist Dr. Andrew Boulet testified that Joan had "very, very

severe coronary disease, life-threatening coronary disease, in all of her vessels." *RP 814: 16-22.* "[T]he entire heart was at risk." *RP 815: 24.* She should not have been "cleared' for surgery. *RP 600: 22-24; 601:1-4; 851:18-24.* 

Joseph's medical record showed extensive evidence of Joan's cardiac decline. Joan began reporting to Joseph her shortness of breath, and her new "syncope," i.e., fainting spells, months before his surgical clearance. RP 921: 11-15; RP 898:15-18. Both are symptoms of cardiac dysfunction—aortic valve stenosis and issues with blood flow. RP 898:15-18 (shortness of breath or "dyspnea"); RP 341: 21-RP 343: 18 (syncope and dyspnea in connection with carotid bruit); 399:4-7(dyspnea). Joseph heard a carotid "bruit"—also a sign of aortic stenosis and vascular disease. Id.<sup>6</sup> Joseph's medical record contained verified test results showing Joan's cardiac dysfunction. John Eikum had taken Joan to a hospital emergency

Joan's left main artery was narrowed by 98%, and her left anterior descending artery was narrowed by 95%. RP 815: 11-15. She had aortic valve stenosis. RP 818: 18-20. The level of plaque in her arteries was life-threatening. RP 828: 22-24. Her left anterior descending artery was heavily diseased and calcified all the way out to the apex, so there was no soft spot for cardiac surgeons even to graft during her bypass surgery. RP 833: 10-17. This "very, very severe coronary disease" was "coupled with a low cardiac output, in the setting of a moderately tight aortic valve which required more blood." RP 809: 15-18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The carotid artery test signified a distal "stenotic" process. *RP 320: 6-9 (Plaintiff's expert)*. This meant that Joan "has atherosclerotic vascular disease—a disease of the arterial system." *RP 320: 14-21*. The neck "bruit" also indicates a murmur in the heart's aortic valve. *RP 321: 3-11*.

room, where an electrocardiogram (EKG) was done. The test report states: "Abnormal EKG." *RP 235: 15-19.*7 Joseph wrote in his medical record that he didn't know *what* was causing Joan's symptoms. He wrote himself a note that a cardiology consult should be obtained to determine the etiology of Joan's symptoms, but he never arranged for the consultation, nor did he ever tell Joan of his concerns. He did tell Joan to arrange for her own Holter monitor test—a heart rhythm test—which she did. That test also came back showing abnormalities.<sup>8</sup>

Plaintiff's medical expert Leslie Stricke, a pulmonologist from Cedars Sinai Hospital in Los Angeles, identified the "gold standard" for testing for the presence and degree of heart disease—this is a test called an echocardiogram (ECHO). *RP 374-375*. The test cost around \$250, and would take only 10-15 minutes. Office practitioners obtain these tests easily by referral to a cardiologist. *RP. 377*. The ECHO allows ready evaluation of all facets of the heart's function. *RP 303-305*.

The January 12, 2009 EKG report identified a number of heart dysfunction conditions—tachycardia was present via a heart rate of 123 beats per minute versus a normal rate of 72 beats per minutes. *RP 352: 5-9.* The EKG showed heart conduction abnormalities, right ventricle blockage, and fascicular blocks. *RP 352: 10-11.* The EKG describes "conducting bundles within the conducting system that are not working," as well as an "inferior Q wave," which means that damage existed to the heart muscle. *RP 352: 10-19.* The EKG states right across its top "abnormal EKG ECG." *RP 352: 20-22.* 

The Holter monitor showed Joan's heart in sustained tachycardia for over nine hours, with an even higher level of tachycardia for over an hour. RP 358: 20 - RP 359: 7. It also showed "PVCs" – extra beats – which can become very serious. RP 359: 19-25.

Dr. Sticke testified that Joseph <u>did not exclude</u> any cause for Joan's cardiac symptoms, nor for her abnormal cardiac test results. *RP 380: 3-7.*9 Stricke pointed to Joseph's own record, which showed his concern for heart abnormalities, including his referral for a Holter monitor and his own note regarding a cardiology evaluation. *RP 356- RP 357.* But Joseph never excluded either aortic stenosis, ventricular dysfunction, or coronary artery disease, even though such were indicated by the testing and symptoms. *RP 380: 3-7.*10

Dr. Jeffrey Caren is Board-Certified in Internal Medicine and Cardiovascular Disease, and also affiliated with Cedars-Sinai Medical Center in Los Angeles. *RP 534, 536.* Dr. Caren agreed with Dr. Stricke. The first reasonable step in determining the cause of Joan's symptoms would have been to obtain an echocardiogram. *RP 591.* Instead, he testified, none of the tests that Joseph performed excluded the possibility of coronary artery disease. *RP 548: 20-23.* None of the tests Joseph performed excluded the indicated aortic stenosis, nor ventricular dysfunction. *RP 548-*

Joseph's chest x-rays and pulmonary function tests did <u>not</u> exclude heart disease. *RP 298: 9-11; RP 369: 13-17.* The hospital's EKG measured only the *rate* of the heart, not its valve or ventricle function. *RP 302: 17.* The Holter monitor is also associated only with the rhythm of the heart. *RP 303: 6-23.* 

Joseph's chest x-rays and pulmonary function tests did <u>not</u> exclude heart disease. *RP 298: 9-11; RP 369: 13-17.* The hospital's EKG measured only the *rate* of the heart, not its valve or ventricle function. *RP 302: 17.* The Holter monitor is also associated only with the rhythm of the heart. *RP 303: 6-23.* 

49. To the contrary, Dr, Caren confirmed that those very tests Joseph *had* ordered *raised* the suspicion of the existence of those very cardiac dysfunctions. *RP 549: 12 – RP 550: 11*. Joseph's notes confirmed that he did not establish the etiology nor cause of Joan's syncope. *RP 586: 7-11*. Dr. Caren testified that Joseph's medical record confirms that he did not exclude anything. *RP 586: 2-11*.

After the close of John Eikum's case in chief, Dr. Joseph took the stand, and testified that he had excluded heart disease. The trial court thereupon dismissed John's informed consent claim by directed verdict.

Division III sustained the ruling. Because Joseph *testified* that he excluded heart disease, states Division III, "*Backlund* expressly controls." Division III went on to explain: "Here, Dr. Joseph had ruled out heart trouble as the cause of bruit or the episodes of syncope. He expressly told the jury that after the Holter monitor test in January, his 'final impression was no acute cardiopulmonary disease.' *RP at 1942*. He testified that after examining Ms. Eikum in March, there was 'no evidence of heart disease" behind the syncope incidents. RP at 1970.' "*Eikum, at \*5*. Division III thus affirmed the dismissal based on Joseph's testimony alone.

Division III also affirmed the trial court's allowing defense medical experts and counsel to purportedly quote the content of what defense experts claimed was a 2007 document setting the criteria for the medical standard

of care for a presurgical evaluation. That article was never in the courtroom, no one ever saw it, and the defense refused to produce it. Defense counsel argued in closing that this article's criteria, as relayed by defense experts, listed the steps for the medical standard of care, and that Joseph adhered to it's steps. This nonexistent "tool" had by then been so pervasively injected into the trial that the defense attorney told the jury in closing, "You're probably sick of it...." RP 2318: 12-18. Whatever the 2007 criteria were or are, they have never been seen to this date.

The jury exculpated Joseph from the Eikums' negligence claim. Division III held that there was no error in allowing this hearsay under ER 803(a)(18), and that even if error existed, John Eikum did not show material prejudice from not being able to see this article.

#### VI. ARGUMENT FOR REVIEW.

1) This Supreme Court's rulings in Backlund v. University of Washington and Gomez v. Sauerwein create an affirmative defense to this state's informed consent law, but, like any affirmative defense, such a defense must be proved to the trier of fact to result in a constitutional trial.

Defense argued that "this tool ... is more accurate than any single test. This tool is predictive and is used to predict risk for non-cardiac surgery, and multiple studies support its reliability." RP 2318: 19-22. He referred to the nonexistent 2007 guidelines as a "well validated, well established tool with exhaustive scientific research and exhaustive scientific underpinnings in effect in 2009" when Joan Eikum's presurgical clearance was performed. RP 2318: 12-18. He argued that physicians used the 2007 "tool" to evaluate or clear a patient for non-cardiac surgery, "and here it is. This tool ... is more accurate than any single test. This tool is predictive and is used to predict risk for non-cardiac surgery, and multiple studies support its reliability." RP 2318: 12-22.

Division III has instead authorized a trial court to enter a directed verdict once a defendant physician testifies that he excluded a high risk medical condition.

Washington's Constitution Art. I, § 22, and the United States Constitution, Amd. 6, guarantee the right to trial by jury. This right is guaranteed in all civil cases by the due process clause. *Tegland, 5A Wash. Prac., Evidence Law and Practice § 611.7 (6th ed.)* citing *Baxter v. Jones,* 34 Wn.App. 1 (Div. III 1983).<sup>12</sup> A directed verdict is only appropriate if, when viewing the material evidence most favorable to the nonmoving party, the court can say, as a matter of law, that there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inferences to sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party. *Wright v. Engum,* 124 Wn.2d 343, 356 (1994).<sup>13</sup>

In *Backlund*, as confirmed in *Gomez v. Sauerwein*, 180 Wn.2d 610 (2014), this Supreme Court created a fact-based affirmative defense for a physician to use against an informed consent claim when that physician is sued under two statutory alternative forms of medical provider liability—1) medical care below the standard of care, and 2) failure to inform the patient

Constitutional rights may be asserted for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5; Tegland, 5A Wash. Prac., Evidence Law and Practice § 611.7 (6th ed.) citing Tegland, 2A Washington Practice: Rules Practice, RAP 2.5 (8th ed.). Division III's ruling creates this conundrum.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Quoting from *Hizey v. Carpenter*, 119 Wn.2d 251, 271–72, 830 P.2d 646 (1992) (quoting *Industrial Indem. Co. of Northwest, Inc. v. Kallevig*, 114 Wn.2d 907, 915–16, 792 P.2d 520, 7 A.L.R.5th 1014 (1990)).

of material facts. See RCW 7.70.030.<sup>14</sup> The second theory, that of informed consent liability, is not actionable where a physician excludes a particular disease, or fails to diagnose it, as the physician cannot be expected to inform the patient about an unknown disease. Sauerwein, 180 Wn.2d at 618, referencing Backlund, 137 Wn. 2d at 661. In this "exclusion" instance, the first theory, "a negligence claim for medical malpractice will provide the patient compensation if the provider failed to adhere to the standard of care in misdiagnosing or failing to diagnose the patient's condition." Id. at 618. This is referred to as the Backlund rule. But the Backlund rule is premised on the physician having actually excluded the condition, or "misdiagnosed" it. In other words, Backlund is no more than an affirmative defense that must be proved. Here, plaintiff's experts disputed Joseph's testimony. They testified that Joseph did not exclude or diagnose anything, much less heart disease. The Backlund defense thus became a genuine issue of material fact for the jury, not Joseph's entitlement to a directed verdict.

RCW § 7.70.030, attached at  $App.\ D$ , includes the two relevant liability theories alleged here-- medical negligence, i.e. "(1) That injury resulted from the failure of a health care provider to follow the accepted standard of care," which is then further detailed at RCW 7.70.040, and "(3) That injury resulted from health care to which the patient or his or her representative did not consent," which is further detailed at RCW 7.70.050 (attached at  $App.\ E$ )

In State v. Fry, 168 Wn.2d 1, 18, 228 P.3d 1, 10 (2010), the dynamic is similar. This Court holds that a statutory medical use exemption to the marijuana law presents only an affirmative defense to be proved in court. It does not result in a presumed immunity simply because the defendant produces documents alleging that he falls under the statutory exemption. Backlund is precisely the same. Backlund should not allow for a directed verdict in the physician's favor solely on the word of the defendant physician when that testimony is disputed. Division II applies this principle in Flyte, where the defendant physician testified that he had ruled out (influenza), but other evidence showed that this may not have been the case at all. 183 Wa. App. at 579-580. Flyte holds that when evidence is in dispute over whether a physician ruled out the condition, this presents a disputed question of fact. "If the jury believed that Marsh had not ruled out influenza, it could properly have considered Kenneth's informed consent claim under the rule articulated in Anaya Gomez." Id.

This Court should accept review and hold that *Backlund* is an affirmative defense which, where disputed, must be determined by the jury. Division III's *Eikum* ruling entitles a defendant to a directed verdict under *Backlund*, even where his testimony is disputed. *Eikum* at \*5. This conflicts with *Backlund*, *Sauerwein*, and with *Flyte*. It is also error of constitutional magnitude, because *Eikum*'s holding violates a claimant's constitutional

right to trial by jury on their informed consent claim when genuine issues of material fact are in dispute.

This Supreme Court's ruling in Gates v. Jensen applies to cases where symptoms and test results are consistent with the disease ultimately discovered, and where test results verify the existence of the condition ultimately discovered. Division III fails to differentiate between Gates and Backlund/Sauerwein, it controverts this court's law, and it conflicts with Division II, which adopted the proper distinction.

Division III's Eikum ruling also contravenes this Supreme Court's Gates v. Jensen ruling, and it conflicts with Division II's ruling in Flyte v. Summit View Clinic. It does both by confusing the difference between a Gates claim and the Backlund affirmative defense. This Court should accept review.

In Sauerwein, this Supreme Court applied its Backlund "exclusion" defense to Dr. Sauerwein. It did so by differentiating Dr. Sauerwein's facts from its Gates v. Jensen facts. 180 Wn. 2d at 622-623. Gates holds that a physician has a duty to inform the patient within the diagnostic process where the circumstances raise the suspicion of a medical condition. Id. at 622. Sauerwein accorded the defendant physician the Backlund defense, because Dr. Sauerwein had only one positive test available, he felt the test was erroneous—a false positive—he was under time constraints, and "had

no additional tests available." *Id. at 621*. His facts were thus "different from *Gates* because there was nothing else that Dr. Sauerwein could have done." *Id. at 622. Sauerwein/Backlund's* defense thus applies where a physician misdiagnoses or excludes, but with minimal contact with a patient, minimal information, and little time to act. <sup>15</sup> A *Gates* claim applies where a physician has possession of consistent positive tests and symptoms pointing to higher risk for the condition at issue. This is the same distinction followed by Division II in *Flyte*. In the latter, Division II applied *Gates*. The claimant "showed symptoms arguably consistent with (the condition at issue)," and this and other information warranted the right to information—a scenario "with little in common" with *Backlund*. *Flyte* 183 Wn.App. at 577. <sup>16</sup>

Division III's *Eikum* ruling fails to apply this differentiation. In *Eikum*, John Eikum's medical experts and Joseph's own medical record show Joseph's recording of consistent and multiple positive test results, along with reports of symptoms, all pointing to heart dysfunction. Joseph's

Moreover, here, as in *Gates*, plaintiff's experts testified to the ready availability of a "gold standard" test for the condition at issue—heart dysfunction—which is "simple, inexpensive, and risk free."

Division II adopts *Gates* to confirm that, "The existence of an abnormal condition in one's body, the presence of a high risk of disease, and the existence of alternative diagnostic procedures to conclusively determine the presence or absence of that disease are all facts which a patient must know in order to make an informed decision on the course which future medical care will take." *Flyte*, at 572, citing *Gates* at 250-51.

own record shows that he intended a cardiac consultation to attempt to reach conclusions, but never followed through. EKG and Holter monitor testing "positively identified" heart dysfunction. *Eikum* is plainly a *Gates* claim, not a *Backlund* defense. This Court should accept review and hold that *Gates v. Jensen* allows a claim for informed consent where symptoms and positive test results are consistent with the disease ultimately discovered, and certainly where alternative diagnostic procedures exist to conclusively determine the presence or absence of that disease, and the patient is not told.

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