RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Dec 21, 2016, 10:08 am

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93905-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ESTATE OF JOAN R. EIKUM,

by and through its Personal Representative, John J. Eikum, and JOAN R. EIKUM, by and through her Personal Representative,

Petitioner,

v.

SAMUEL JOSEPH, D.O.,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mary H. Spillane, WSBA #11981 Timothy L. Ashcraft, WSBA #26196 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC Attorneys for Respondent

701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4750 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 749-0094

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This Court should deny review, as none of the considerations governing acceptance of review under RAP 13.4(b)² are present in this case. The Court of Appeals' decision is based upon and is not inconsistent with decisions of this Court, including *Anaya Gomez v Sauerwein*, 180 Wn.2d 610, 618, 331 P.3d 19 (2014), this Court's most recent decision on the viability of informed consent claims in failure to diagnose cases. Thus review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Nor is the Court of Appeals' decision inconsistent with any decision of the Court of Appeals,

² The Estate does not even cite RAP 13.4(b) in its Petition.

including *Flyte v. Summit View Clinic*, 183 Wn. App. 559, 333 P.3d 566 (2014), so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2). Although the Estate makes passing reference to constitutional issues, this case does not present any significant question of law under the state or federal constitutions, to justify review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). And, the Estate has not argued that this case involves some issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A. The Court of Appeals' Affirmance of the Trial Court's Dismissal of the Informed Consent Claim Is Not in Conflict with Any Decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals.

Standard of care and informed consent claims are two distinct causes of action; allegations supporting one normally will not support the other. *Gustav v. Seattle Urological Assoc.*, 90 Wn. App. 785, 789, 954 P.2d 319, *rev. denied*, 136 Wn.2d 1023 (1998). In a medical negligence claim under RCW 7.70.040, the issue is whether injury resulted from the failure of a health care provider to follow the accepted standard of care. In an informed consent claim under RCW 7.70.050, the issue is whether the

-

³ Although the Estate asserts, *Pet. at 11 n.12*, that "[c]onstitutional rights may be asserted for the first time on appeal, the Estate ignores that "naked castings into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to compel judicial consideration and discussion." *State v. Johnson*, 119 Wn.2d 167, 171, 829 P.2d 1082 (1990) (quoting *In re Rosier*, 101 Wn.2d 606, 616, 717 P.2d 1353 (1986) (further citation omitted). The Estate has cited no authority supporting its claims that the trial court's or the Court of Appeals' rulings as to the legal viability of its informed consent claim violated state or federal constitutional rights to trial by jury or that the trial court's or Court of Appeals' ruling concerning use of medical treatise violated its constitutional right to confront witnesses.

health care provider informed the patient of the material facts relating to a proposed course of treatment.

The different foci of the claims are evident in that "[i]nformed consent allows a patient to recover damages from a physician even though the medical diagnosis or treatment was not negligent." *Backlund v. Univ. of Wash.*, 137 Wn.2d 651, 659, 975 P.2d 950 (1999). Thus, a physician who injures a patient through treatment without obtaining informed consent is potentially liable on informed consent claim, even if the physician complied with the standard of care in performing the treatment. *Id.* at 660 (citation omitted). But:

A physician who misdiagnoses the patient's condition, and is therefore unaware of an appropriate category of treatments or treatment alternatives, may properly be subject to a negligence action where such misdiagnosis breaches the standard of care, but may not be subject to an action based on failure to secure informed consent.

Backlund, 137 Wn.2d at 661.

As this Court confirmed more recently in *Anaya Gomez v.*Sauerwein, 180 Wn.2d 610, 618, 331 P.3d 19 (2014):

Simply put, a health care provider who believes the patient does not have a particular disease cannot be expected to inform the patient about the unknown disease or possible treatments for it. In such situations, a negligence claim for medical malpractice will provide the patient compensation if the provider failed to adhere to the standard of care in misdiagnosing or failing to diagnose the patient's condition.

See also Gustav, 90 Wn. App. at 789 (informed consent claim properly dismissed where physician failed to diagnose prostate cancer, believing patient's elevated PSA tests were due to chronic prostatitis or bacterial infection); Thomas v. Wilfac, Inc., 65 Wn. App. 255, 828 P.2d 597, rev. denied, 119 Wn.2d 1020 (1992) (informed consent claim properly dismissed because emergency room physician owed no duty to inform patient of time frame to treat condition that he did not diagnose); Bays v. St. Luke's Hosp., 63 Wn. App. 876, 881-82, 825 P.2d 319, rev. denied, 119 Wn.2d 1008 (1992) (informed consent claim properly dismissed because physician owed no duty to discuss possible methods for treating thromboembolism where the physician was "unaware of the thromboembolism condition"); Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 54 Wn. App. 162, 168-69, 772 P.2d 1027, rev. denied, 113 Wn.2d 1005 (1989) (informed consent claim properly dismissed as physician had no duty to disclose risk of brain herniation and subsequent injury of which he was unaware).

1. The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent and not in conflict with *Backlund* and *Anaya Gomez*.

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly analyzed *Backlund* and *Anaya Gomez* and concluded that they applied to bar the Estate's informed consent claim, because Dr. Joseph had, based on his evaluation of Ms. Eikum over time and the results of the tests he had run, ruled out heart

trouble as the cause of Ms. Eikum's bruit and episodes of syncope. As the Court of Appeals correctly explained:

[Dr. Joseph] expressly told the jury that after the Holter monitor test in January, his "final impression was no acute cardiopulmonary disease." RP at 1942. He testified that after examining Ms. Eikum in March, there was "no evidence of heart disease" behind the syncope incidents. RP at 1970. Whether or not Dr. Joseph erroneously ruled out heart disease was properly placed before the jury as a question of medical negligence. Both sides addressed the problem from that perspective and the jury rendered its verdict in favor of the doctor. Since the doctor had concluded that there was no heart disease, the trial court correctly applied Backlund and took the informed consent issue from the jury. While Dr. Joseph had not yet determined what had caused the incident, he had ruled out a heart condition as the cause.

Slip Op. at 11. Thus, the Court of Appeals, consistent with Backlund and Anaya Gomez, correctly concluded that the trial court did not err in granting judgment as a matter of law on the question of informed consent.

The Estate's claim, *Pet. at 10-14*, that all *Backlund* and *Anaya Gomez* did was create a "fact-based affirmative defense" to an informed consent claim that could not be resolved on motion for directed verdict, is patently incorrect. Neither *Backlund* nor *Anaya Gomez* (nor any other case) states that its holding concerning the legal viability of an informed consent claim in a failure to diagnose or misdiagnosis case is an affirmative defense to be determined by the jury. To the contrary, as the Estate acknowledges, *Pet. at 12* (citing *Anaya Gomez*, 180 Wn.2d at 618, and

Backlund, 137 Wn.2d at 661), both Backlund and Anaya Gomez hold that an informed consent claim "is not actionable where a physician excludes a particular disease, or fails to diagnose it, as the physician cannot be expected to inform the patient about an unknown disease." [Emphasis added.] As this Court held in Anaya Gomez, 180 Wn.2d at 613:

[W]hen a health care provider rules out a particular diagnosis based on the patient's clinical condition – including test results, medical history, presentation upon physical examination, and any other circumstances surrounding the patient's condition that are available to the provider – the provider may not be liable for informed consent claims arising from the ruled out diagnosis under RCW 7.70.050.

The Estate nonetheless argues, *Pet. at 12*, that "the *Backlund* rule is premised on the physician having actually excluded the condition, or 'misdiagnosed' it," and asserts that its experts disputed whether Dr. Joseph had actually excluded or misdiagnosed Ms. Eikum as having heart disease. But testimony from the Estate's experts that Dr. Joseph missed the signs of coronary artery disease and did not rule it out goes to whether he was negligent in failing to recognize such signs and do further testing, not to whether he could be liable for an informed consent claim arising out of a diagnosis of heart disease that he believed he had ruled out and a condition that he "[a]bsolutely" did not suspect Ms. Eikum had. RP 2066-67. Neither *Backlund* nor *Anaya Gomez* holds that it is only when a physician has conclusively ruled out, or all experts agree that a physician has

conclusively ruled out, a particular diagnosis that there is no duty to inform. Indeed, were that the rule, a plaintiff would always have an informed consent claim in a misdiagnosis or failure to diagnose case, as no physician can ever conclusively have ruled out a condition that it turns out the patient had, but the physician failed to diagnose.

Contrary to the Estate's assertions, the Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with either *Backlund* or *Anaya Gomez*.

2. The Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with *Flyte*.

Contrary to the Estate's claims, *Pet. at 13-15*, the Court of Appeals' decision also is not in conflict with Division II's decision in *Flyte v. Summit View Clinic*, 183 Wn. App. 559, 333 P.3d 566 (2014). *Flyte did not* involve a negligent failure to diagnose a specific condition (swine flu), but rather a claim that the Clinic failed to provide informed consent by not telling a pregnant patient with flu-like symptoms about the H1N1 epidemic and public health alert recommendations for treating pregnant women prophylactically with Tamiflu. Indeed, the undisputed testimony was that no test could have determined whether the patient had H1N1 in a timely manner. *Id.* at 576.

The issue in *Flyte* was whether the trial court erred in instructing the jury that a "physician has no duty to disclose treatments for a condition

that may indicate a risk to the patient's health until the physician diagnoses that condition." *Id.* at 572. Citing the five-justice concurring/dissenting opinion that was controlling on the issue of informed consent in *Keogan v. Holy Family Hosp*ital, 95 Wn.2d 306, 329-30, 622 P.2d 1246 (1980), which recognized that, even if no diagnosis had been made, a duty to disclose existed if the patient was to undergo a diagnostic procedure involving risk to the patient, the *Flyte* court concluded that, given the extreme danger posed by H1N1 and the availability of prophylactic measures, it was error to instruct the jury that no informed consent claim could exist unless the defendant physician had conclusively diagnosed influenza, especially when that was not the allegation. *Id.* at 580.

In *Flyte*, the physician testified that he had excluded influenza as a diagnosis. *Id.* at 577. However, Division II concluded that the defendant physician's testimony was based solely on his records (as he had no independent memory) and those records were equivocal on the issue of whether he had ruled out influenza, thus creating an issue of fact. *Id.* The question of fact in *Flyte* was not based on after-the-fact expert testimony that the defendant had not, but should have, ruled out influenza, but rather was based on internal contradictions in the physician's own records and testimony about whether he had ruled it out.

Here, based on his assessment of Ms. Eikum, including x-ray, arterial blood gas testing, EKGs, laboratory tests, Holter monitoring and pre-surgical physical examination, Dr. Joseph concluded that Ms. Eikum had no acute pulmonary disease, and did not suspect that she had any cardiac dysfunction RP 1942-45, 1951-58, 1969-70; 2066-67. Dr. Joseph was unequivocal about his conclusion that "[a]bsolutely," there was no reason to suspect that Ms. Eikum had any cardiac dysfunction. RP 2066-67. In other words, Dr. Joseph ruled out coronary artery disease. That Mr. Eikum's experts were of the opinion that the examinations and tests Dr. Joseph performed showed abnormalities and did not conclusively rule out cardiac dysfunction is a matter of medical negligence, not a failure to secure informed consent.

Indeed, that is exactly what cases such as *Gustav*, *Bays*, and *Anaya Gomez* make clear. As the court held in *Gustav*, 90 Wn. App. at 790:

Whether Dr. Gottesman and Lilly misjudged "the appropriate frequency of diagnostic testing, the dangers involved in not testing more frequently, and the consequences of not completing the 1991 biopsy," i.e., whether they negligently failed to diagnose Gustav's cancer, are issues that implicate negligence in diagnosis falling below the standard of care, not informed consent about the risks of treating the diagnosed condition.

Ultimately, this case is very similar to cases such as *Backlund*, *Burnet*, *Bays*, *Thomas*, *Gustav*, and *Anaya Gomez*, which all hold that no informed

consent claim exists. Nothing about the *Flyte* case changes that analysis.

3. The Court of Appeals' decision is also not in conflict with *Gates v. Jensen*.

The Estate further argues, *Pet. at 14-16*, that the Court of Appeals' decision "contravenes" this Court's decision in *Gates v. Jensen*, 92 Wn.2d 246, 250-51, 595 P.2d 919 (1979). It does not.

Gates was a pre-RCW 7.70.050 case involving informed consent. While this Court in Anaya Gomez, citing Gates, recognized that "[i]n certain circumstances [it had] held that the right to informed consent can include the process of diagnosis," it also recognized that Gates predated RCW 7.70.050's codification of informed consent that "limit[s] informed consent claims to treatment situations." Anaya Gomez, 180 Wn.2d at 617. Moreover, the Anaya Gomez court recognized: (1) that "[t]he Gates court allowed the informed consent claim based on a unique set of facts," id. at 623; (2) that "Backlund clarifies that Gates is the exception and not the rule with regard to the overlap between medical negligence and informed consent," id. at 626; and (3) that "[g]iven the unique factual situation in Gates, it is unlikely we will ever see such a case again." Id.

The *Anaya Gomez* court concluded that "*Gates* stands for the proposition that patients have a right to be informed about a known or likely condition that can be readily diagnosed and treated." *Id.* at 626. But

in *Gates*, there was no question that the patient's consistently high eye pressure readings over a two-year period pointed to a higher risk for glaucoma and that the ophthalmologist was well aware of those consistently high readings. Here, based on his evaluation and testing, Dr. Joseph did not know, and believed he had no reason to suspect that Mrs. Eikum had cardiac dysfunction. If he should have known or suspected it, that was a matter of possible medical negligence if he violated the standard of care, but not a matter of informed consent.

To hold that an informed consent claim exists under the facts of this case not only would violate the holdings and rationale of *Backlund*, *Burnet*, *Bays*, *Thomas*, *Gustav*, and *Anaya Gomez*, but also would turn nearly every alleged misdiagnosis or failure to diagnose case into an informed consent case. Nothing in *Gates* stands for such a proposition.

B. The Court of Appeals Properly Concluded that Error, if Any, in Allowing Under ER 803(a)(18) Expert Testimony from a Learned Treatise About the Revised Cardiac Risk Index Was Harmless.

The Estate argues, *Pet. at 17*, that the trial court, in allowing use of portions of a learned treatise referencing a revised cardiac risk index, violated its constitutional right to cross-examine the witness. The Estate, however, cites no case supporting its argument that an alleged missing document, as opposed to a missing witness, creates a constitutional infirm-

ity regarding the right to cross-examine. As previously noted, "naked castings into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to compel judicial consideration and discussion." *State v. Johnson*, 119 Wn.2d 167, 171, 829 P.2d 1082 (1990); *see* footnote 3, *supra*.

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